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Summary

The Law's Spring Site is comprised of a natural spring and a small parcel of land 
immediately surrounding it. The spring is located approximately 14 miles northeast 
of Williams, Arizona on lands managed by the U.S. Forest Service and is identified 
on Forest Service maps as Laws Natural. It consists of a pool of water situated in 
a natural rock tank formed by large basalt boulders in the bottom of a shallow, unnamed 
drainage. Historic use of the spring as a water source and encampment area by early 
explorers, surveyors and migrants is indicated by a number of initials, names and 
dates engraved on the basalt boulders surrounding the water pool. Aboriginal use of 
the spring is evidenced by numerous petroglyphs near the pool and on the rocky bluff 
above the drainage. One of the historic engravings placed here in 1859 by a member 
of Lt. E.F. Beale's survey party identifies the location as Laws Spring. With the 
exception of some recently carved names and dates and a deteriorated fence, the spring 
is much as it must have appeared when first discovered by explorers in the mid 1800s.

Site Description

Laws Spring is situated at an elevation of 6840 feet in the SWi, Section 27, T24N, 
R3E, Gil a and Salt River Meridain on lands managed by the Kaibab National Forest. 
The drainage in which it is located runs generally from the southeast to the northwest. 
The spring is made up of two pools of water separated by 50 feet. The larger, down­ 
stream pool where the engraved names and dates are located (Photo no. 1) is a perennial 
water source, while the smaller, upstream pool contains water only seasonally. Veg­ 
etation in the vicinity of Laws Spring is primarily pinyon and juniper, but toward 
the south trees are sparse, and the area is best characterized as open grassland. The 
more moist conditions found in the drainage itself support the growth of ponderosa 
pine. , Immediately north a rocky bluff of basalt rises 20 to 30 feet above the 
drainage. The basalt boulders forming the natural rock tank of the spring are part 
of this same outcrop.

The basalt boulders surrounding the perennial pool are incised with historic initials, 
names and dates (Photo no. 2). Included are the following: "Laws Spring" (Photo no. 
3), "WWW" "CSM" "AWW" "UPRWED" "1868" (Photo no. 4), "RAE" "JB" "UPRR" "AP 1868" and 
three star symbols (Photo no. 5), "SBW 1883" (Photo no. 6), "C.R.M. 1883" (Photo no. 
7), and "SA WALKER 1883" (Photo no. 8). Prehistoric petroglyphs around the pool and 
on the bluff overlooking it include geometric shapes and human and animal figurines 
(for example, Photo no. 9).
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According to one historic source (see Beale 1859:65) the Beale Road passed about 300 
feet south of Laws Spring, although no physical evidence of the road is presently 
visible. A photograph taken by Alexander Gardner in 1868 (Photo no. 10) shows this 
location to be a camp area. Also included amoung the photographs is a recent shot 
taken from approximately the same spot (Photo no. 11). The boundary of the nomination 
has been drawn to include this camp area.

A few pieces of Deadmans Grey pottery, a ceramic type associated with the prehistoric 
Cohonina Indians between A.D. 700 and 1100, and numerous obsidian chips are found 
scattered along the rocky bluff above the spring and in the open grassland within 
the boundaries of the nomination.

Laws Spring, which is still an active spring today, was described in 1859 as follows 
by E.F. Engle, one of Lt. Beale 1 s assistants: "The spring is in a rocky ravine about 
300 feet from the road. The water which is contained in two separate basins of rock 
is situated at the western edge of the ravine. The quality of water is excellent, 
and it is in sufficient quantities to water a large amount of stock. The testimony of 
all who have visited this spot shows that the water is permanent." Judging from the 
prehistoric petroglyphs found here (petroglyphs are typically associated with water 
sources), the spring has been active for hundreds, perhaps thousands, of years. 
The historic names and dates from the 1800s have not been defaced, although a number 
of names and dates have been added in recent years. The prehistoric petroglyphs 
have not been defaced either, but some are quite faint as a result of weathering. At 
some time in the past Page wire sheep fences were constructed around each water pool. 
These fences are now badly deteriorated and serve no function. They could be removed 
without disturbance to the site. Overall the Law's Spring site exhibits a high level 
of integrity.

Boundaries

Laws Spring is located in open woodland country, and no readily identifiable natural 
or cultural boundaries exist. The boundaries for the site have thus been drawn to 
encompass all associated features, including the two spring reservoirs, the historic 
and prehistoric petroglyphs, the camp area and that portion of the Beale Wagon Road 
which passes south of the spring. In order to include all features, the property 
is defined as a 400 X 600 foot rectangle surrounding the inscription "Laws Spring" 
with the long axis oriented true north/south. The inscription "Laws Spring" is 
centered east/west but lies 200 feet from the northern boundary and 400 feet from the 
southern boundary (See attached sketch map). The property encompasses 5.5 acres.
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

SUMMARY

Laws Spring site is a natural landmark which can be directly linked with at least four 
factors significant in the historic development of Northern Arizona: 1) initial explor­ 
ation of the area; 2) transcontinental transportation through the area; 3) transcont­ 
inental commerce through the area; and 4) early settlement of the area.

In 1857 Lt. Edward F. Beale explored the Northern Arizona area as a possible route for a 
transcontinental wagon road, which he subsequently developed in 1858-59. Journals kept 
by Beale on both trips identify Laws Spring as an important water source along the road. 
Once the Beale Wagon Road was established it served, over the next twenty to thirty 
years, as a major route for travel by immigrants and for movement of large herds of 
sheep and cattle. Although many immigrants as well as livestock herders simply traveled 
through Northern Arizona, some stopped here to settle and/or establish ranches.

Among the documented historic visitors to Laws Spring were a Union Pacific Railroad survey 
party in 1868 seeking a potential route through Northern Arizona for a transcontinental 
railroad, a Bureau of Land Management Survey crew who, in 1883, were mapping the Northern 
Arizona area for the first time~, an early settler in the nearby Spring Valley area, and 
various immigrants who kept diaries of their journeys.

HISTORICAL CONTEXT/SIGNIFICANCE

When, in the mid 1800's,the United States Government became involved in exploration of 
the American West and appropriated monies for such pruposes, one project to receive 
funding was construction of a wagon road along the 35th parallel from Ft. Smith, Ark­ 
ansas, to the Colorado River, a straight line distance of about 1200 miles. The task of 
establishing and improving this road fell to Navy Lt. Edward F. Beale. The Beale Wagon 
Road, as it came to be known, was one of the first federally funded highways in the 
western United States. Beale's initial trip in 1857 was restricted to the western portion 
of the road from Ft. Defiance, New Mexico to the Colorado River and was mainly exploratory 
in nature. He set about identifying the best route in relation to water sources as well 
as hunting and grazing areas. Laws Spring was located during this trip but not named 
at the time. It was also during this trip that Beale conducted his well known experiment
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testing the value of camels as beasts of burden in the American Southwest. Beale 
made a second trip in 1858-59 along the entire length of the road beginning at Ft. 
Smith, Arkansas, with a construction crew of ftiy men for the purpose of building 
bridges and making other necessary improvements. It was during the return portion of 
this second trip that Laws Spring was named. It was named after Major W. L. Laws, a 
member of the military escort for Beale's party. The letters "LAWS SPRING" were 
apparently inscribed here in July 1859 by Peachy Breckenridge, a tombstone carver 
who was a member of Beale's party. Peachy was the son of John C. Breckenridge, Vice 
President under James Buchanan.

Once the Beale Wagon Road was established, it was used extensively over the next 
twenty to thirty years by numerous immigrant trains traveling to and from California, 
as well as by stockmen moving sheep and cattle in both directions. Diaries kept by 
some of these early travelers mention Laws Spring. For example, John Udell, who 
traveled the Beale Wagon Road in 1858 in the interval between Beale's trips, recorded 
having stopped at Laws. Mormon groups moving south out of present-day Utah joined the 
Beale Road at Hackberry, Arizona, then followed it eastward to settlements along the 
Little Colorado River. Diaries kept by some individuals on these trips, such as 
John Bushman and Ida Hunt, Congressman Morris Udall's grandmother, mention stopping 
at Laws Spring in 1877. No doubt the spring served as a water source at times for 
some of the hundreds of thousands of head of sheep and cattle brought into or driven 
through Northern Arizona. The Beale Road, although it is not so well known, probably 
rivaled or exceeded the famous Oregon Trail and its off-shoot the California trail 
as an immigrant and livestock movement route.

Additional direct evidence of historic visits to Laws Spring is shown by names and 
dates inscribed on the rocks around the spring. The inscriptions, "RAE" "JB" "UPRR" 
"AP 1868" and "AWW" "CSM" "WWW" "UPKWED 1868" (see accompanying photos) were placed 
at the spring in 1868 by a Union Pacific Railroad survey party. This party, led by 
Chief Engineer General W. W. Wright, worked extensively in Northern Arizona in 1867-68. 
They were considering the Beale Wagon Road as a possible route for a transcontinental 
railroad. Although the wagon road itself was not chosen specifically as a railroad 
route, the Atlantic and Pacific Line was constructed in the early 1880's within a 
few miles of the road, confirming the wisdom of the general route selected by Beale. 
The Atlantic and Pacific Line was the second transcontinental railroad constructed 
in this country, and its role in the development of Northern Arizona was of primary 
importance. Communities along the Beale road which subsequently sprung up with the 
coming of the railroad include Hoi brook, Joseph City, Winslow, Leupp, Flagstaff, 
Seligman, Peach Springs, Hackberry, Kingman, Goldroad and Rivera.
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Of further historical significance is the fact that the Union Pacific survey party was 
accompanied by Alexander Gardner, the well known photographer of Abraham Lincoln and 
of Civil War battlefields. Two of the eighteen photographs which Gardner took in 
Northern Arizona were taken at Laws Spring. They consitute the earliest existing 
photographic record of Northern Arizona.

Other historic inscriptions at Laws Spring include the initials "SBW 1883" and "CRM 
1883." These are thought to be the initials of the two members of a Bureau of Land 
Management Survey party involved in official mapping of the Northern Arizona area for 
the first time. S. A. Walker, who also inscribed his name at Laws Spring in 1883, 
is thought to have been an early settler in the Spring Valley area located about 
eight miles to the southeast.

Law Spring is thus historically significant due to its direct association in the mid to 
late 19th century with establishment of transportation and commerce routes across 
Northern Arizona. Together the Beale Wagon Road and the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad 
led to more rapid settlement of the southwestern United States. At the present time, 
historic camp areas along the Beale road are difficult to authenticate due to a lack 
of physical evidence. Laws Spring is one of only five locations across the State of 
Arizona with good evidence of association with the Beale road. One of the other five, 
Breckenridge or Beale Spring, has been largely destroyed by construction of a stock 
tank at the site.
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Document 42, 36th Congress, 1st Session, 1860).

Bowman, E. G. and J. Smith, "The Beal Road Through the Kaibab National Forest" 
(Unpublished report prepared for the Kaibab National Forest. Copy of file Kaibab 
National Forest, Williams, Arizona, 1978.)

Cline, Platt, They Came To The Mountain: The Story of Flagstaff's Beginnings 
(Northern Arizona University, Old Town Press, Flagstaff, Arizona 1976J

Verbal interviews with Jack Smith, January and June 1983.
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